18WC010060

21IWCCO0133
STATE OF ILLINOIS
) BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
COUNTY OF ) SS COMMISSION
MADISON )
Ashley Bridges,
Petitioner,
VS. NO. 18WC010060

21ITWCCO0133
State of Illinois/Choate Mental Health Center,

Respondent.

ORDER OF RECALL UNDER SECTION 19(f)

A Timely Petition under Section 19(f) of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act to
Correct Clerical Error in the Decision and Opinion on Review dated March 18,2021 has
been filed by Respondent herein. Upon consideration of said Petition, the Commission is of
the opinion that it should be granted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision and
Opinion on Review dated March 18, 2021 is hereby vacated and recalled pursuant to Section
19(f) for clerical error contained therein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that a Corrected Decision and
Opinion on Review shall be issued simultaneously with this Order.

Pursuant to Section 19(f)(1) of the Act, there shall be no right of appeal as the State of
Illinois is Respondent in this matter.

APRIL 23, 2021

s/ Steptien . Wathis
SM/msb Stephen J. Mathis
0-1/19/21
44
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) || Affirm andadopt (no changes)

) SS. | [L] Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF MADISON ) [ ] Reverse[Choose reasoh

X Modify

|:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ 1 Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))

[ 1 Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)

|:| PTD/Fataldenied

& None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ASHLEY BRIDGES,

Petitioner,

VS. NO: 18 WC 10060
21I1WCCO0133

STATE OF ILLINOIS/CHOATE
MENTAL HEALTH CENTER,

Respondent.

CORRECTED DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal connection, medical
expenses and permanent partial disability, and being advised of the facts and law, modifies the
Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the

Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

Permanent Disability

The Commission views the evidence of disability differently with respect to the Section 8.1b(b)

factor (iv).

(iv) the emplovyee’s future earning capacity

No evidence was presented to support a finding that Petitioner’s injuries have or would
detrimentally affect her future earning capacity. The Arbitrator engaged in speculation in
concluding that negative repercussions would manifest in the near future. At the time of hearing
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Petitioner has returned to full-duty and has not sustained a loss of earnings. The Commission
finds that less weight should have been given to this factor. This factor weighs heavily in
favor of decreased permanent disability.

Having weighed the evidence and analyzed the Section 8.1b(b) factor (iv), the
Commission finds that Petitioner sustained a 20% loss of the use of the left great toe, and
30% loss of the use of the left foot under Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

All else is affirmed.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to
Petitioner the sum of $418.31 per week for 50.1 weeks, because the injuries sustained caused
30% loss of the use of the left foot, and the sum of $418.31 for 7.6 weeks because the injuries
sustained caused the loss of use 0f 20% of'the left great toe.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay the
respective medical providers the medical expenses outlined in Petitioner’s Exhibit 1, subject to
the Illinois medical fee schedule or PPO agreement, whichever is less, as stipulated by the
parties, for medical expenses under §8(a) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall be given
credit for medical benefits that have been paid through its group carrier, and Respondent shall
hold Petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent
is receiving this credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interestunder §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Pursuant to Section 19(f)(1) of the Act, there shall be no right of appeal as the State of
Illinois is Respondent in this matter.

APRIL 23, 2021

Js/ Stephhen ). Wathis

SM/msb Stephen J. Mathis
0-1/19/21
44

Is/ Ttsmas Toyenell

Thomas Tyrrell
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21ITWCCO0133
STATE OF ILLINOIS
) BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
COUNTY OF ) SS COMMISSION
MADISON )
Ashley Bridges,
Petitioner,
Vs. NO. 19WC009771

21ITWCCO0133
State of Illinois/Choate Mental Health Center,

Respondent.

ORDER OF RECALL UNDER SECTION 19(f)

A Timely Petition under Section 19(f) of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act to
Correct Clerical Error in the Decision and Opinion on Review dated March 18,2021 has
been filed by Respondent herein. Upon consideration of said Petition, the Commission is of
the opinion that it should be granted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision and
Opinion on Review dated March 18, 2021 is hereby vacated and recalled pursuant to Section
19(f) for clerical error contained therein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that a Corrected Decision and
Opinion on Review shall be issued simultaneously with this Order.

Pursuant to Section 19(f)(1) of the Act, there shall be no right of appeal as the State of
Illinois is Respondent in this matter.

APRIL 23, 2021
/5! Stepten 'ﬂ Wathis

SM/msb Stephen J. Mathis
0-1/19/21
44
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) || Affirm andadopt (no changes)

) SS. | [L] Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF MADISON ) [ ] Reverse[Choose reasoh

X Modify

|:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ 1 Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))

[ 1 Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)

|:| PTD/Fataldenied

& None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ASHLEY BRIDGES,

Petitioner,

VS. NO:

19 WC09771

21I1WCCO0133

STATE OF ILLINOIS/CHOATE
MENTAL HEALTH CENTER,

Respondent.

CORRECTED DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal connection, medical
expenses and permanent partial disability, and being advised of the facts and law, modifies the
Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the

Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

Permanent Disability

The Commission views the evidence of disability differently with respect to the Section 8.1b(b)

factor (iv).

(iv) the emplovyee’s future earning capacity

No evidence was presented to support a finding that Petitioner’s injuries have or would
detrimentally affect her future earning capacity. The Arbitrator engaged in speculation in
concluding that negative repercussions would manifest in the near future. At the time of hearing
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Petitioner has returned to full-duty and has not sustained a loss of earnings. The Commission
finds that less weight should have been given to this factor. This factor weighs heavily in
favor of decreased permanent disability.

Having weighed the evidence and analyzed the Section 8.1b(b) factor (iv), the
Commission finds that Petitioner sustained a 20% loss of the use of the left great toe, and
30% loss of the use of the left foot under Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

All else is affirmed.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to
Petitioner the sum of $418.31 per week for 50.1 weeks, because the injuries sustained caused
30% loss of the use of the left foot, and the sum of $418.31 for 7.6 weeks because the injuries
sustained caused the loss of use 0f 20% of'the left great toe.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay the
respective medical providers the medical expenses outlined in Petitioner’s Exhibit 1, subject to
the Illinois medical fee schedule or PPO agreement, whichever is less, as stipulated by the
parties, for medical expenses under §8(a) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall be given
credit for medical benefits that have been paid through its group carrier, and Respondent shall
hold Petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent
is receiving this credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interestunder §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Pursuant to Section 19(f)(1) of the Act, there shall be no right of appeal as the State of
Illinois is Respondent in this matter.

APRIL 23, 2021

Js/ Stephhen ). Wathis

SM/msb Stephen J. Mathis
0-1/19/21
44

Is/ Ttsmas Toyenell

Thomas Tyrrell



18WC017792

21IWCC0157
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
)SS COMMISSION
COUNTY OF COOK )
Ivette Perez Rodriguez,
Petitioner,
Vs. NO. 18WC017792
21IWCCO0157

Illinois Department of Transportation,

Respondent.

ORDER OF RECALL UNDER SECTION 19(f)

A Timely Petition under Section 19(f) of the Illinois Workers” Compensation Act to
Correct Clerical Error in the Decision and Opinion on Review dated April 6, 2021 has been
filed by Petitioner herein. Upon consideration of said Petition, the Commission is of the
opinion that it should be granted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision and
Opinion on Review dated April 6, 2021 is hereby vacated and recalled pursuant to Section
19(f) for clerical error contained therein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that a Corrected Decision and
Opinion on Review shall be issued simultaneously with this Order.

APRIL 23, 2021

SMJsj
44

/s/ Stephen 1), Mathés
Stephen J. Mathis
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) |:| Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. | [] Affirm with changes [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF COOK ) & Reverse| Causal connectidn |:| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

[ ] PTD/Fataldenied

|:| Modify & None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

IVETTE PEREZ RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioner,

VS. NO: 18WCO017792
21IWCCO157

ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

CORRECTED DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petitioner for Review having been filed by Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causal connection, medical
expenses, temporary total disability and permanent disability, and being advised of the facts and
law, reverses the Decision of the Arbitrator for the reasons stated below.

On June 10, 2018 Petitioner filed an application for adjustment of claim alleging
repetitive trauma to the right hand and thumb with a manifestation date of April 16,2018. On
June 15, 2018 Petitioner filed an application for benefits asserting that she sustained injury to her
left thumb on November 13,2017 that occurred while carrying GPS equipment. The matters
were consolidated for trial.

Petitioner had been employed by IDOT as a land surveyor for 18 eighteen yearsand is 53
years of age. She testified that in her work she utilizes a device known as a controller. This is a
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GPS device attached to a pole which combine to weigh 10-15 Ibs. and is carried from one
location to another over the course of her workday. Petitioner uses both hands to type and rotates
her wrists continually while recording data which measure roads, buildings, sidewalks and trees
on the controller.

On November 13,2017 Petitioner consulted Dr. Michael Birman for symptoms of
numbness, tingling and pain in both hands. Dr. Birman diagnosed Petitioner with left carpal
tunnel syndrome, trigger finger in the left thumb and right de Quervain’s tenosynovitis. Dr.
Birman administered a steroid injection in Petitioner’s left thumb.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Birman in follow up on December 20, 2017 at which time a
recommendation was made for surgery on Petitioner’s left hand. On April 16, 2018 Petitioner
underwent a bilateral EMG of the upper extremities which revealed moderate to severe bilateral
median neuropathies at the wrist. The left wrist was more symptomatic. Petitioner elected to
proceed with surgery. Throughout this time Petitioner continued to work full duty.

On May 1, 2018 Dr. Birman performed a left carpal tunnel release and left trigger finger
release. Post-operatively Petitioner had work restrictions which included no forceful grip and no
lifting, pushing or pulling. On June 12,2018 Petitioner had surgery on her right hand which
included trigger thumb release, carpal tunnel release, and first extensor tunnel release. Petitioner
was off work and undergoing occupational therapy. She returned to full-duty work on August 27,
2018 and was discharged from care by Dr. Birman in September 2018.

Petitioner testified that she continues to experience occasional numbness and pain in both
thumbs which she treats with Tylenol. She also experiences a loss of hand strength overall which
is more pronounced on the right.

Dr. Birman, Petitioner’s treating physician authored a report on August 5, 2019 which
was received in evidence (PX4) which expressed the opinion that her described work activities
“could have” aggravated the condition in her hands. He notes that an EMG performed on April
16,2018 which was diagnostic for bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. He additionally diagnosed
right and left trigger thumbs, right de Quervain’s tenosynovitis, and right and left thumb
carpometacarpal joint arthritis.

In his report Dr. Birman comments that Petitioner’s description of her work activities
which include forceful and sustained use of her thumbs could be aggravating factors in her
symptomatology. Petitioner’s testimony at hearing describes work activities that would support
causal connection.

Respondent retained Dr. Andrew Zelby as a Section 12 expert who examined Petitioner
on May 22,2019. Dr. Zelby characterized the EMG study as “equivocal” and did not believe that
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her subjective complaints could be ascribed to any kind of neurological condition of her neck or
upper extremities. He maintained that Petitioner had undergone bilateral carpal tunnel releases
and had “essentially normal motor and sensory exams of both hands” and failed to demonstrate
causal connection. The Commission finds it notable that Dr. Zelby did not offer any opinion
concerning Petitioner’s de Quervain’s tenosynovitis or trigger fingers.

The Arbitrator denied Petitioner’s claims on both hands finding that the medical opinion
on causal connection stated by Dr. Birman was equivocal and ambiguous. He found the opinions
expressed by Dr. Zelby to be persuasive. The Commission views the evidence differently and
finds that the causation opinion expressed by Dr. Birman concerning Petitioner’s condition of ill-
being in her right and left thumbs supports the claim. Petitioner has met her burden of proof and
the Commission hereby reverses the Arbitrator’s Decision on the causal connection concerning
injury to Petitioner’s thumbs and affirms all else.

As to the nature and extent of Petitioner’s injury, the Arbitrator did not consider the five
factors under Section 8.1(b) of the Act as he considered the issue of nature and extent moot. The
Commission having found accident and causal connection in this claim, and taking into
consideration the following five factors listed under Section 8.1(b) of the Act, awards Petitioner
30% loss of the use of the right thumb and 30% loss of the use of the left thumb.

(1) Impairment rating: The Commission gives no weight to this factor as neither party
offered any evidence or opinion relative to impairment.

(i1) Occupation of the Injured Emplovee:
(1)  Petitioner’s Age:

(iv)  Petitioner’s Future Earning Capacity:
(V) Evidence of Disability:

In light of the foregoing factors, with no single enumerated factor being the sole
determinant of disability, the Commission awards 30% loss of the use of the right thumb and
30% loss of the use of the left thumb for Petitioner’s bilateral hand condition.

For the foregoing reasons the Commission reverses the Decision of the Arbitrator filed on
January 28,2020 in claim numbers 18 WC 17792 and 18 WC 17917 with regard to the condition
of ill being in Petitioner’s right and left thumbs and affirms all else.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed January 28, 2020 is reversed in part for the reasons stated above, as to the causal
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connection of the condition of ill-being in Petitioner’s right and left thumbs and is affirmed in all
else.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $843.84 per week for a period of 17 weeks, commencing May 1, 2018 through
August 27,2018, that being the period of temporary total incapacity for work under Section §(b)
of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
all reasonable and necessary medical expenses detailed in Petitioner’s Exhibits 1 & 2, namely the
bill from Alexian Brothers Medical Center totaling $11,685.43, and Hand to Shoulder Medical
Associates totaling $4,696.00, pursuant to Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent is entitled to a
credit for amounts paid on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injuries under its
group health plan pursuant to Section 8(j) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $759.45 per week for a period of 22.8 weeks, as provided in Section 8 (¢) of the Act,
for the reason that the injuries sustained caused the thirty percent (30%) loss of use of the right
thumb. Respondent shall also pay Petitioner the sum of $759.45 per week for a period 0f22.8
weeks, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act, for the reason that the injuries sustained caused the
thirty percent (30%) loss of use of the left thumb.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
Petitioner interest under Section 19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all other amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental
injuries.

APRIL 23, 2021

SIM/msb Is/ Stepten ﬁ Wathio
D: 2-16-21 Stephen J. Mathis
44

Is/ WHank Parker

Mark Parker
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21IWCC0157
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
)SS COMMISSION
COUNTY OF COOK )
Ivette Perez Rodriguez,
Petitioner,
Vs. NO. 18WC017917
21IWCCO0157

Illinois Department of Transportation,

Respondent.

ORDER OF RECALL UNDER SECTION 19(f)

A Timely Petition under Section 19(f) of the Illinois Workers” Compensation Act to
Correct Clerical Error in the Decision and Opinion on Review dated April 6, 2021 has been
filed by Petitioner herein. Upon consideration of said Petition, the Commission is of the
opinion that it should be granted.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision and
Opinion on Review dated April 6, 2021 is hereby vacated and recalled pursuant to Section
19(f) for clerical error contained therein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that a Corrected Decision and
Opinion on Review shall be issued simultaneously with this Order.

APRIL 23, 2021

SMJsj
44

/s/ Stephen 1), Mathés
Stephen J. Mathis
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STATE OF ILLINOIS

COUNTY OF COOK

)

)

|:| Affirm and adopt (no changes)

|:| Affirm with changes
& Reverse | Causal connectidn

[ Modify

|:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))

[ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

[ ] PTD/Fatal denied

& None of'the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

IVETTE PEREZ RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioner,

VS.

NO: 18 WC 17917

ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

21IWCCO0157

CORRECTED DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petitioner for Review having been filed by Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causal connection, medical
expenses, temporary total disability and permanent disability, and being advised of the facts and
law, reverses the Decision of the Arbitrator for the reasons stated below.

On June 10, 2018 Petitioner filed an application for adjustment of claim alleging
repetitive trauma to the right hand and thumb with a manifestation date of April 16,2018. On
June 15, 2018 Petitioner filed an application for benefits asserting that she sustained injury to her
left thumb on November 13,2017 that occurred while carrying GPS equipment. The matters
were consolidated for trial.

Petitioner had been employed by IDOT as a land surveyor for 18 eighteen yearsand is 53
years of age. She testified that in her work she utilizes a device known as a controller. This is a
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GPS device attached to a pole which combine to weigh 10-15 Ibs. and is carried from one
location to another over the course of her workday. Petitioner uses both hands to type and rotates
her wrists continually while recording data which measure roads, buildings, sidewalks and trees
on the controller.

On November 13,2017 Petitioner consulted Dr. Michael Birman for symptoms of
numbness, tingling and pain in both hands. Dr. Birman diagnosed Petitioner with left carpal
tunnel syndrome, trigger finger in the left thumb and right de Quervain’s tenosynovitis. Dr.
Birman administered a steroid injection in Petitioner’s left thumb.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Birman in follow up on December 20, 2017 at which time a
recommendation was made for surgery on Petitioner’s left hand. On April 16, 2018 Petitioner
underwent a bilateral EMG of the upper extremities which revealed moderate to severe bilateral
median neuropathies at the wrist. The left wrist was more symptomatic. Petitioner elected to
proceed with surgery. Throughout this time Petitioner continued to work full duty.

On May 1, 2018 Dr. Birman performed a left carpal tunnel release and left trigger finger
release. Post-operatively Petitioner had work restrictions which included no forceful grip and no
lifting, pushing or pulling. On June 12,2018 Petitioner had surgery on her right hand which
included trigger thumb release, carpal tunnel release, and first extensor tunnel release. Petitioner
was off work and undergoing occupational therapy. She returned to full-duty work on August 27,
2018 and was discharged from care by Dr. Birman in September 2018.

Petitioner testified that she continues to experience occasional numbness and pain in both
thumbs which she treats with Tylenol. She also experiences a loss of hand strength overall which
is more pronounced on the right.

Dr. Birman, Petitioner’s treating physician authored a report on August 5, 2019 which
was received in evidence (PX4) which expressed the opinion that her described work activities
“could have” aggravated the condition in her hands. He notes that an EMG performed on April
16,2018 which was diagnostic for bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. He additionally diagnosed
right and left trigger thumbs, right de Quervain’s tenosynovitis, and right and left thumb
carpometacarpal joint arthritis.

In his report Dr. Birman comments that Petitioner’s description of her work activities
which include forceful and sustained use of her thumbs could be aggravating factors in her
symptomatology. Petitioner’s testimony at hearing describes work activities that would support
causal connection.

Respondent retained Dr. Andrew Zelby as a Section 12 expert who examined Petitioner
on May 22,2019. Dr. Zelby characterized the EMG study as “equivocal” and did not believe that
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her subjective complaints could be ascribed to any kind of neurological condition of her neck or
upper extremities. He maintained that Petitioner had undergone bilateral carpal tunnel releases
and had “essentially normal motor and sensory exams of both hands” and failed to demonstrate
causal connection. The Commission finds it notable that Dr. Zelby did not offer any opinion
concerning Petitioner’s de Quervain’s tenosynovitis or trigger fingers.

The Arbitrator denied Petitioner’s claims on both hands finding that the medical opinion
on causal connection stated by Dr. Birman was equivocal and ambiguous. He found the opinions
expressed by Dr. Zelby to be persuasive. The Commission views the evidence differently and
finds that the causation opinion expressed by Dr. Birman concerning Petitioner’s condition of ill-
being in her right and left thumbs supports the claim. Petitioner has met her burden of proof and
the Commission hereby reverses the Arbitrator’s Decision on the causal connection concerning
injury to Petitioner’s thumbs and affirms all else.

As to the nature and extent of Petitioner’s injury, the Arbitrator did not consider the five
factors under Section 8.1(b) of the Act as he considered the issue of nature and extent moot. The
Commission having found accident and causal connection in this claim, and taking into
consideration the following five factors listed under Section 8.1(b) of the Act, awards Petitioner
30% loss of the use of the right thumb and 30% loss of the use of the left thumb.

(1) Impairment rating: The Commission gives no weight to this factor as neither party
offered any evidence or opinion relative to impairment.

(i1) Occupation of the Injured Emplovee:
(1)  Petitioner’s Age:

(iv)  Petitioner’s Future Earning Capacity:
(V) Evidence of Disability:

In light of the foregoing factors, with no single enumerated factor being the sole
determinant of disability, the Commission awards 30% loss of the use of the right thumb and
30% loss of the use of the left thumb for Petitioner’s bilateral hand condition.

For the foregoing reasons the Commission reverses the Decision of the Arbitrator filed on
January 28,2020 in claim numbers 18 WC 17792 and 18 WC 17917 with regard to the condition
of ill being in Petitioner’s right and left thumbs and affirms all else.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed January 28, 2020 is reversed in part for the reasons stated above, as to the causal
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connection of the condition of ill-being in Petitioner’s right and left thumbs and is affirmed in all
else.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $843.84 per week for a period of 17 weeks, commencing May 1, 2018 through
August 27,2018, that being the period of temporary total incapacity for work under Section §(b)
of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
all reasonable and necessary medical expenses detailed in Petitioner’s Exhibits 1 & 2, namely the
bill from Alexian Brothers Medical Center totaling $11,685.43, and Hand to Shoulder Medical
Associates totaling $4,696.00, pursuant to Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent is entitled to a
credit for amounts paid on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injuries under its
group health plan pursuant to Section 8(j) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $759.45 per week for a period of 22.8 weeks, as provided in Section 8 (¢) of the Act,
for the reason that the injuries sustained caused the thirty percent (30%) loss of use of the right
thumb. Respondent shall also pay Petitioner the sum of $759.45 per week for a period 0f22.8
weeks, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act, for the reason that the injuries sustained caused the
thirty percent (30%) loss of use of the left thumb.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
Petitioner interest under Section 19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all other amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental
injuries.

APRIL 23, 2021

SIM/msb Is/ Stepten ﬁ Wathio
D: 2-16-21 Stephen J. Mathis
44

Is/ WHank Parker

Mark Parker
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )

) SS
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ROSARIO JIMENEZ,
Petitioner,

VS. NO: 18 WC 13761
21 IWCC 0168
CHICAGO MARRIOTT OAK BROOK,

Respondent.
ORDER

This matter comes before the Commission on Petitioner’s Petition to Recall the
Commission Decision to Correct Clerical Error Pursuant to Section 19(f). The Commission
grants Petitioner’s Petition.

With regard to the Petition to Correct Clerical Errors, the Commission agrees with the
alleged clerical errors, and thus grants said Petition.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Commission Decision
and Opinion dated April 7, 2021, is hereby recalled pursuant to Section 19(f) of the Act. The
parties should return their original decisions to Commissioner Maria E. Portela.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that a Corrected Decision and
Opinion on Review shall be issued simultaneously with this Order.

4/23/2021

DATED:
MEP/dmm
049

Is| Waria E. Portela

P: 041421
049
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) |:| Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. |Z| Affirm with changes |:| Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF DU PAGE ) |:| Reverse |:| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ ] PTD/Fatal denied
|:| Modity |X| None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ROSARIO JIMENEZ,
Petitioner,
VS. NO: 18 WC 13761

21 IWCC 0168
CHICAGO MARRIOTT OAK BROOK,

Respondent.

CORRECTED DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident,
temporary total disability benefits, medical expenses, and prospective medical treatment and
being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is
attached hereto and made a part hereof, but makes a clarification as outlined below. The
Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for a
determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for
permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 I11.2d 327, 399
N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794 (1980).

The Commission affirms the Arbitrator’s decision with the following clarification:

On April 12, 2018, Petitioner was working as a banquet server for Respondent. She
testified she was working in the VIP room and that she was directed by her supervisor to go to
Starbucks to find lids for the coffee cups as there were none in the VIP room or storage. (T. 10)
Petitioner went to Starbucks and obtained lids and some cups. Petitioner subsequently realized
they were not the correct lids so she grabbed the lids, advised her supervisor that they were not
the correct lids, and went to Starbucks for a second time. (T. 11)

On this second trip to Starbucks Petitioner was carrying the cups and lids she was going
to return and as she was walking, she tripped. (T. 8) Her leg went to the side, her left knee
popped and Petitioner was unable to continue walking. (T. 8-9) After advising her general
manager and Human Resources, she was put in a taxi cab to go to the occupational health clinic
for an examination. (T. 12-13)
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On April 12, 2018 the same day the accident occurred, Petitioner was examined at
Advocate Occupational Health where she was taken off work, diagnosed with a left knee sprain
and instructed to follow up with an orthopedic surgeon should problems persist. (Px1) She
reported that the incident occurred while she was walking rapidly and felt a pop in her knee.
(Px1) Petitioner followed up with orthopedic surgeon, Kevin Tu, M.D., on May 10 2018, at
which time he ordered an MRI and placed Petitioner on restricted duty. (Px2) Petitioner
described her accident as quickly walking and tripping over the junction between the hard floor
and carpet. (Px2) Petitioner underwent an MRI on May 15, 2018 which showed a torn meniscus.
(Px3) On May 24, 2018, Petitioner returned to Dr. Tu, at which point he recommended
conservative treatment consisting of physical therapy. He continued restrictions. (Px2) Petitioner
returned on June 28, 2018, at which point physical therapy was discontinued and surgery was
recommended. Restrictions were again continued. Petitioner returned to Dr. Tu on August 9,
2018 and September 20, 2018, and authorization for the recommended surgery was still pending.
Petitioner’s restrictions remained in place. (Px2)

On cross-examination, Petitioner testified that she was walking very fast at the time she
hurt her knee. She wasn’t walking or jogging. (T. 18) She was walking fast because of
customer’s complaints. (T. 23) She didn’t fall, but she tripped and then her foot got stuck and she
couldn’t move. (T. 27) Petitioner did not testify as to any defects in the floor.

The Respondent does not dispute that the evidence establishes that at the time the
Petitioner sustained her knee injury she was at work — i.e. in the course of her employment. As
the parties do not dispute that Petitioner's knee injury occurred in the course of her employment,
the Commission will only address the second element that must be proved to find the case
compensable --whether the Petitioner's knee injury arose out of her employment.

The McAllister v. Illinois Workers’ Compensation Comm ’n, 2020 IL 124848 (9/24/20)
case provides the proper analysis to be applied in this instance. In McAllister at 460, the court
held that Caterpillar Tractor prescribes the proper test for analyzing whether an injury "arises
out of" a claimant's employment when the claimant is injured performing job duties involving
common bodily movements or routine "everyday activities." Caterpillar Tractor Co. v.
Industrial Comm’n, 129 111.2d 52 (1989), stands for the proposition that an injury arises out of a
claimant's employment for purposes of the Act if, at the time of injury, the claimant was
performing an act that he might reasonably be expected to perform incident to his employment or
causally connected to what the claimant must do to fulfill his assigned job duties, even if the act
involves an everyday activity.

In analyzing whether an injury resulting from an everyday activity or common bodily
movement arises out of a claimant's employment it must first be determined whether the
employee was injured performing one of the three categories of employment-related acts
delineated in Caterpillar Tractor. Caterpillar Tractor, 129 111.2d at 58; see also The Venture -
Newberg-Perini, Stone & Webster v. lllinois Workers’ Compensation Comm’n, 2013 IL 115728,
9 18; Sisbro v. Industrial Comm’n, 207 111.2d 193, 204 (2003). "The 'arising out of' component is
primarily concerned with causal connection. To satisfy this requirement it must be shown that
the injury had its origin in some risk connected with, or incidental to, the employment so as to
create a causal connection between the employment and the accidental injury." Sisbro, 207 111.2d
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at 203 (citing Caterpillar Tractor, 129 111.2d at 58) see also Baggett v. Industrial Comm’n, 201
111.2d 187, 194 (2002) (" An injury 'arises out of' one's employment if it originates from a risk
connected with, or incidental to, the employment, involving a causal connection between the
employment and the accidental injury.").

A risk is incidental to the employment when it belongs to or is connected with what the
employee has to do in fulfilling his or her job duties. Orsini v. Industrial Comm’n, 117 111.2d 38,
45 (1987). To determine whether a claimant's injury arose out of his or her employment, we must
categorize the risks to which the claimant was exposed. Dukich v. Illinois Workers’
Compensation Comm’n, 2017 IL App (2d) 160351WC 431; Mytnik v. Illinois Workers’
Compensation Comm 'n, 2016 IL App (1st) 152115WC, 438; Baldwin v. Illinois Worker’s
Compensation Comm 'n, 409 111.App.3d 472,478 (2011); First Cash Financial Services v.
Industrial Comm’n, 367 1ll.App.3d 102, 105 (2006).

Petitioner’s knee injury arose out of her employment because at the time she injured her
knee while in the process of retrieving coffee cup lids for customers, she was at work performing
an act her employer might reasonably expect her to perform incident to her assigned job duties as
a banquet server, and in fact, was directed to perform. Therefore, the knee injury was
employment related, as it was caused by retrieving coffee cup lids for the customers in the VIP
concierge room — an act that was incident to and causally connected to Petitioner’s job duties as
a banquet server. Caterpillar Tractor, 129 111.2d at 58; Memorial Medical Center v. Industrial
Comm’n, 72 111.2d 275, 280 (1978) (" 'to come within the statute the employee need only prove
that some act or phase of the employment was a causative factor of the resulting injury"' "
(quoting County of Cook v. Industrial Comm’n, 69 111.2d 10, 17 (1977))).

Sisbro and Caterpillar Tractor make it clear that common bodily movements and
everyday activities are compensable and employment related if the common bodily movement
resulting in an injury had its origin in some risks connected with, or incidental to, employment so
as to create a causal connection between the employment and the accidental injury. Sisbro, 207
I11.2d at 203 (citing Caterpillar Tractor, 129 111.2d at 58). Caterpillar Tractor does not require a
claimant to provide additional evidence establishing that she was exposed to the risk of injury,
either qualitatively or quantitatively, to a greater degree than the general public, once she has
presented proof that she was involved in an employment-related accident. Caterpillar Tractor,
129 111.2d at 58.

In addition to proving accident, Petitioner met her burden that her current condition of ill-
being is causally related to her work injury. Petitioner reported directly to occupational health,
wherein she was diagnosed with a “sprain of unspecified collateral ligament of left knee.” (Px1)
She followed up with orthopedic surgeon Dr. Tu, who ordered an MRI and ultimately diagnosed
that she had a torn medial meniscus. (Px2, 5/24/18 visit) On August 9, 2018, Dr. Tu opined that
Petitioner’s mechanism of injury was consistent with the development of a medial meniscus tear.
(Px2) Respondent did not offer any medical opinion to refute this causation opinion.

Based on the finding of accident and causation, the Arbitrator appropriately awarded
medical expenses as all were in furtherance of the treatment of Petitioner’s knee injury. He also
appropriately awarded prospective treatment in the form of left knee arthroscopic surgery and
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attendant care, as well as temporary total disability benefits from the day following the injury
through the date of trial.

In addition to the foregoing, the Commission corrects a scrivener’s error contained in the
Arbitration Decision in the second to last sentence of the second paragraph on page 11. The
Commission replaces the word “hear” with the word “heard”.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Corrected Decision of
the Arbitrator filed June 15, 2020 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $21,122.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED: 4/23/2021 is| Wania E. Portela
MEP/dmm

0: 022321 sl Thomas Y. Toymell
49

Is/ Rattrge 4. Doerries
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NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION
CORRECTED

JIMENEZ, ROSARIO Case# 18WC013761

Employee/Petitioner

CHICAGO MARRIOTT OAK BROOK
Employer/Respondent

On 6/15/2020, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.18% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day betfore the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

2512 THE ROMAKER LAW FIRM
JASON BRISKI

211 W WACKER DR SUITE 1450
CHICAGQO, iL. 60606

2461 NYHAN BAMBRICK KINZIE & LOWRY
BRIAN A RUDD

20 N CLARK ST SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, L 60602-4195
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STATE OF I I.‘IN(-_)IS ' ). D injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
SR o )SS. o ' . D Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(g))
COUNTY OF DUQ_ age ) D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
. ' : - Nome of the above -

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
' CORRECTED ARBITRATION DECISION

I9(b)
Rosario Jiminez o _ o ~Case# 18 WC 13761
Emp}oyee/Petitioner S : _' P o
v. : - ' ' _ _ Consol:dated cases:
Chtcaqo Marrlott Oak Brook '
Emp]oyer/Respendent

An Apphcarton for Aa_’;ustment of Clazm was ﬁled in thls mattez and a Notzce of Hearmg was malled to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Charles Watts, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Wheaton on October 23, 2018. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
ﬁndmgs on the dmputed issues cheeked below and attaches those ﬁndmgs to this document

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operatlng under and sub;ect to the H}mozs Workers' Compensatlon or Occupatlonal
Diseases Act?

D Was there an empioyee emp}oyer relatlonsh1p‘? _ :
- Dzd an accident oceur that arose out of and 1 in the course of Petltioner S employment by Respondent?
‘:I What was the date of the accldent" ' '

. D Was timely notice of the accident glven 1o Respondent‘7

B.
C.
D.
E
F. . Is Petltloner s current condition of 1Il-be1ng causally reiated to the mjury‘?
G. D What were Petitioner's eammgs" . ' ' '
H. [ ] What was Petltmners age at the tlme of the accident?

[ D What Was Petltioners marltal Status at the ﬁme of the accident?

J

.Were the medacal services that were prowded to Petitioner reasonabfe and necessary? Has Respondent
paid al] approprzate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. Eﬂis Petmoner entitled to any prospective medlcal care?

L. & What temporary beneﬁts are in dlspute‘7 _
- [JTtpp  []Maintenance - > TTD

M. DShouId pena1t1es or fees be imposed upon Respondent‘?
N. [:] Is Respondent due any credzt‘J'
0. D Other '

 ACArbDecldb) /10 1GO W, Rcmdo!pl: SH€‘€I #8 ’f)(} Chrcago 1L 6l 312/814-6611 Iollﬁcc 866/332-3033  Web site: swww.jwee.il.gov
Downsiate oﬁces Coi!mxwl[e 618/346 3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Rockfmd 8]5/987 7292 Sp.' ingfield 217/785-7084
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FINDINGS

On the date of accident, April 12, 2018, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions
of the Act.

On April 12, 2018, an employee—empioyer reiationship did cxist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On April 12, 2018 Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent on April 12, 2018.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $31,092.88 and the average weekly wage was $597.94.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 61 years of age, married with  dependent children.
Petitioner has not received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has not paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical
services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0.00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0.00 for other
benefits, for a total credit of $0.00.

ORDER
Aeccident

Petitioner was injured in a work related accident on April 12, 2018, while working as assigned for Respondent
when she injured her left knee. Based upon Petitioner’s consistent and credible testimony at trial and the
histories of the accident that Petitioner gave to Respondent, the Occupational Clinic and Dr. Tu, the Arbitrator

holds that Petitioner had an acmdent that arose out of and in the course of the employment by Respondent on
Aprll 12, 2018.

Is Petmoner s Current Cond:twn of l”—-betﬂ}f causallv related fo the mm.' vy

Based upon the totahty of the ev1dence mcludmg medlcal opinions, and the witness testimony, the Arbitrator
concludes that Petitioner has established a causal connection between the work acczdent of April 12, 2018, and
Petmoner s current condltlon of ill- bemg of 1eﬁ knee m;ury

T enipor arv T otal Dtsabtlztv

Respondent shali pay Petzttoner temporary total dlsablhty (TTD) beneﬁts of $398 62 per week for a Petitioner

27 and 5/7% weeks, commencing April 13, 2018 to the date of trial as prov1ded n Section 8(b) of the Act. Total
TTD owed is $11 047.35.

Medzcal Benef' ts

Petmoner s medical bills were adnntted as Petmoner s Exhibits 1,2,3 and 4. The Arbitrator awards the medical
bills in Exhlbits 1,2,3 and 4. The Respondent shall pay the reasonable and necessary medical services of
$9,974.03 to Petmoner and The Romaker Law an as prov1ded in Sectlon 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Pros'pectzve Medtcal Care
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Petitioner’s treating surgeons, Dr. Tu has opined that Petitioner requires surgery as a result of the work injury of
April 12, 2018. Respondent has not provided any rebuttal medical evidence or testimony. Therefore, the
Arbitrator concludes that Respondent shall authorize Petitioner’s 1eﬁ knee surgery and related post surgical
medical treatment as provided in Sections 8(a) Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the C01nm13310n

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE [f the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment;
however, if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, mterest shalI not
accrue.

June 5, 2020

Signature of Arbitrator Date

JUN 15 2020
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PROOF OF SERVICE

If the person who signed the Proof of Service is not an attorney, this form must be notarized.
{f you prefer, you may submit the front of this application form with the Proaf of Service on a scparate page.

[, Jason Briski, an attorney, affirm that I emailed and D delivered D mailed with proper postage in the city
of Chicago a copy of this form at 5:00pm on November 15, 2018 to the Respondent listed on this
application and to each additional party, if any, at the address listed below.

TO:  Mr. Brian Rudd
Nvyhan Bambrick Kinzie and Lowry
20 N. Clark Street, Suite 1000
Chicago, IL 60602
Via E-Mail to bar@nbkliaw.com

Arbitrator Charles Watts

llinois Workers' Compensation Commission
100 W. Randolph

Chicago, IL 60601

Via E-Mail to charles. watts@illinois.gov

Signature of person completing Proof of Service



21TWCCO0168

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Rosario Jimenez )
Petitioner, ;
Vvs. % Nos. 18 WC 13761
Chicago Marriott .Oa_k Brook ;
Respondent. ;
FINDINGS OF FACT

The parties stipul.ated that on April 12, 2018, the Respondent, Chicago Marriott Oak
Brook, was :opetating under and subject to the provisions of the Act, and. that an employee-
employer relationship exieted ‘oetween Respondent and Petitioner. (See Request for E[earing
Form, Arb Ex 1,). The parties aiso Stipulated that Respondent was given notice of the accident
within the tlme llmitS stated in the Act. (See Request for Hearmg Form, Arb. Ex 1)
Addltlonalky, the partles stlpuiated that Petttloner S average week}y wage to be cons1dered is
$597.94. (See Request for Heartng Form Arbitrator’s Ex. 1). Further, the partles stlpulated that
at the time of the injury Petitioner was 61 years old, marrled with zero dependent child. (See
Request for Hea_rmg Form, Arb. Ex. 1). The Request for Hearing Form was entered as
Arbitrator’s Exhibit #1. (Tr.p 5). Petitioner’s list of ootstanding medical bills was attached to
Arbitrator’s Exhlbzt #1. (Tr. p. 6). The Application for Adjustment.of Claim for the case was
entered as Arb1trator s Exhibit #2. (Tr. p. 6). An mterpreter was used for the hearing named
Paula Rlordan (Tr p. 7). _ . _

On October 23, 2018, Petmoner submltted Exhibits #1 through #4 and alI Petltloner S
Exhibits were admztted into ev1dence (Tr pp 79-82). Respondent w1thdrew Exhlblts #1, #2 and
#3; and subrmtted Exhlblts #4 through #8; however, Respondent s Exhibit #8 was rejected and
not adnntted into ev1dence (Tr. pp- 82- 86) Petltloner objected to Exh1b1t # 6(a) and 6(b) based
on lack of foundanon however the Arbltrator over ruled the objectlon and allowed the exhibit to
be admltted (Tr pp 83-85). o

On October 23, 2018 Petmoner testlﬁed that she worked at Marriott Internatlonai in Oak
Brook as a banquet server for approxunately 14 years. (Tr. pp. 7-8). Petltioner testified that she

1
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injured her left knee on April 12, 2018. (Tr. p. 8). Petitioner testified that the injury occurred
when she was walking very fast to Starbucks in the hotel while she was carrying some cups and
lids (Tr. p. 8).

Petitioner testified that she as she was walking, carrying the cups and lids, she tripped on
a carpet and her leg.went to the side and she heard a popping sound. (Tr. pp. 8-9). Petitioner |
testified that she felt a sharp pain and was not able to walk anymore. (Tr. p. 9). Petitioner
testified that she tried to take two steps but she could not move. (Tr. p. 9). Petitioner testified
that the carpet she tripped on was a mat to clean feet at the entrance of the hotel. (Tr. p. 9).

Petitioner testified that she was going to Starbucks to return the cups and lids because
they did not match the cups in the VIP room. (Tr. p. 10). Petitioner testified that the Starbucks
was within the Marriott Oak Brook Hotel. (Tr. p. 10). Petitioner testified that she was working
in the concierge room for people that have a key that are VIP to go into. (Tr. p. 10).

Petitioner testified that she went to the storage room looking for lids but could not find
any and she had to go to other departments to get lids for the cups (Tr. p. 10). Petitioner testified
that her supervisor Megan told her to go to Starbucks. (Tr. p. 10). Petitioner testified that she
went to Starbucks and got some lids and cups but did not realize that the lids did not fit until
customers started complaining about it. (Tr. p. 10). Petitioner testified that she spoke to her
supervisor Megan again. (Tr. p. 11) Petitioner testified that Megan directed her to go back to
Starbucks. (Tr. pp. 11-12). Petitioner testified that it was her second trip going back to
Starbucks when she tripped and injured herself. (Tr. p. 12). |

| Petitioner testified that after she tripped she could not walk so she was Iooking around to
see who could come and help her. (Tr. p. 12). Petitioner testified that she did not fall down and
the clients at Tablé 15 saw her trip and asked if she was ok. (Tr. p. 12). Petitioner testified that
she reported the accident and they took her to tell the general manager, Christina Duncan. (Tr. p.
12). Petitloner tes’uﬁed that HR was cailed and she spoke to Diana and was told they would
wrlte an acc1dent report and she could go to the hospital (Tr. p. 13) Petitioner testlﬁed that she
was sent matam for medxcal treatment (Tr pp- 13- -14).

Pet1t10ner testified that she was seen at Advocate Occupatmnal Health on the same day
that she hurt her knee. (Tr. p. 14). Petltloner testified that the occupaﬂonal clinic kept her off
work and. told her to follow up with an orthopedic surgeon. (Tr. p. 14). Petitioner teétiﬁed that
she sought care from Dr. Tu, an drthopedic surgeon, on May 10, 2018. (Tr. p. 14). Petitioner
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testified ‘d]a't Dr. Tu osd_ered an _MRI of 'he_r left knee, which was performed on May 15, 20i8.
(Tr. pp. 1 5). -Pet.it_ion.er.' testified that Dr. Tu gave her _.W_ork restrictions dnd she sent the
restrictions to Respondent, hoﬁ!ever, Respondent didnbt offer her light-duty work. (Tr. p- 15).
Petitiooer testiﬁed that Df Tu diagnosed her with a mediei MENISCus tear and she began physicel
therapy. (Tr. p. 15) Pet;tloner testified that she did physwal therapy for apprommateiy a month
at Total Rehab (Tr. p. 16). o

Pet1t1oner testified that when she saw Dr. Tu at the end of June 2018 he recommended
surgery for her Ieft knee (Tr p. 16). Petitioner testified that she has continued to treat w1th Dr.
Tu, but she has not been able to have Surgery for her left knee because it has not been authonzed
by Workers Compensatlon insurance. (Tr p. 16). Petltloner testiﬁed that she has not recezved
any Workers Compensaﬁon dlsa’mhty pay. (Tr. pp. 16- 17) Petltloncr testified that she wants
the surgery so she can go back to work (Tr p- 17). _ ' ' S

On C108s- ~examination, Pet1tloner testzﬁed that she was ciaimmg an accident dated Apnl
12, 2018, and she began her shift at six o clock in the mommg (Tr. pp. 17-18). Petitioner
test_iﬁ_ed that she was workmg in the restaurant area near the Starbucks -and she recel_ved
cusfonier eoﬁlpia'iﬁts that ooffee lids need to be restocked (Tr. p. 18). Petitioner testiﬁed thét
she was ‘walking fast but she was not runnmg or joggmg (Tr. p. 19). Petitioner testified that
she went to Advocate Occupahonal Hea}th and spoke to Dr. Piotrowski. (Tr p. 19). Petitioner
testified that she told Dr. P10trowsk1 that she was Walkmg rapidly on carpet at work and felt a
pop in her left knee. (Tr p. 19). Petitioner was asked by Respondent s counsel if she trlpped on
a carpet or a mat and Petmoner testlﬁed that 1t was a mat but she was not sure ‘what it was cakled
(Tr. pp. 19- 20) The mterpreter explamed on the record that the Spamsh word Petitioner was
usmg, “Alfombra , can ‘be amat or a carpet used for elther (Tr. p. 20).

On cross exammatlon Petltloner tes’aﬁed that x- rays of her left knee were taken and She
did not break any bones or have any fractures (Tr. p. 20). Pet1t1oner testlﬁed that she was
lnltzally dlagnosed with a left knee Spram (Tr p- 20) Petztloner testified that she sought
treatment w1th Dr. Tu for the ﬁrst time on May 10, 201 8 (Tr 21-22). PCtltiOﬂeI‘ testified that she
gave Dr Tua descmptlon of her acmdent and told him that she was waiklng quwkiy between the
floor and the carpet when she tmpped over a Junctzon between the carpet and the hard ﬂoor (Tr
p. 21} Petltxoner testlﬁed that she toid her treatmg dootors that she tripped when she crossed
from the floor to the carpet (Tr p 22) ' |
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On cross-examination petitioner testified that she had a conversation with Respondent
that was recorded. (Tr. p. 23). Petitioner testified that she told Respondent that customers were
complaining about coffee lids and she was walking fast be_cause of the customer complaints. (Tr.
p. 23). Petitioner testified that her foot got stuck and she could not move anymore. (Tr. p. 23).
Petitioner testiﬁed that she did not remember what she told respondent and she answered what
Respondent asked her while she was in a lot of pain. (Tr. p. 26). Petitioner testified that she did
not say that her foot simply got stuck and when she tripped it did get stuck. (Tr. p. 27).

On cross-examination Petitioner testified that her accident took place about 10 to 15 feet
from the outside of the Starbucks. (Tr. p. 27). Petitioner testified that the hostess stand and
computer were near where her accident occurred and she held on to it. (Tr. pp. 27-28).
Petitioner testified that the hostess stand and computer Were at the entrance door and by the door
going to Starbucks. (Tr. p. 28). Petitioner testified that she did not know the distance from
where the accident occurred to the hotel entrance door and restaurant Table 15 was ten to fifteen
feet away. (Tr. p. 29).

On cross-examination Petitioner testified that she spoke with the general manager
Christina, immediately after she was hurt, who called HR and then Cathy and Megan arrived.
(Tr. p. 29). Petitioner testified that she told the HR person, Diane Wnek that she tripped on a
mat near the exit door. (Tr. p. 29). Petitioner testified that when she hurt her knee she stumbled
but did not fall to the ground. (Tt. p. 29). _

On cross- examination Petitioner said she did not remember that well if the photograph
marked: Respondent 3 Exhlblt 5E showed the floor by Table 15, but it appeared so. (Tr. p. 31).
Petitioner said she walked on the floor many times and it was the floor that went to the hostess
stand. (Tr. p. 32). Petitioner testified that she did not know if the carpet started after the wooden
dividing wall _and she_did not knev\} if 'the floor tiles we_re broken. (Tr. p. 33).

On redi'relc't'- exanlina.tion Pefiﬁoner ’éeStiﬁed th.at there was carpeting on fop of the tile
- floor and that ‘was away from the arca of the floor shown in Respondent S EXthlt 5E. (Tr p. 34).
Pet1t10ner ﬁ;rther testlfied that that the carpetmg is what she tripped on. (Tr. p. 34). Petitioner
testified again that she trlpped on the carpeting after re-cross and re-direct exarnmatlon.- (Tr. p.
. o | o _ _

' The Market Dxrector for Human Resources Dlane Wnek test1ﬁed for the Respondent.

(Tr. p. 38). Ms. Wnek testtﬁed that she oversees recruiting, talent management performanee
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development associate .issnes disciplinary actions, tenninations, h.iring, Workers Comp, and
other human resources situations. .(Tr. p. 38). _ o S .

Ms. Wnek testrﬁed that she has 1nteracted with the Petrtroner (Tr p- 38). Ms. Wnek
testified that on Apnl 12, 2018 she was working at the Chlcago Mamott Oak Brook locatlon and
received a eall at about 8:00 am from the generai manager regardmg an assoc1ate mjury (Tr. p.
39). Ms Wnek testaﬁed that she spoke to Petrtloner in the hallway behind the restaurant
concierge lounge and Petrtloner was sitting on a charr with ice on her knee. (Tr p- 39) Ms.
Wnek testlﬁed that Petrtroner gencral manager, Krrstln Duncan and herself were present for the
conversatlon (Tr. p. 40). ' -

- Ms. Wnek testrﬁed that Petitioner told her it was very busy that mommg, she was rushrng
around to get lids for to -go coffee cups for guests, and that while she was walking through the
restaurant her knee gave out and begaa hurtmg her, and that she had made 1t as far as the mat
where she could not eontinne any farther and that was where she stayed until she got assxstance
to move from that spot (Tr. p. 40)

‘Ms. Wnek testlﬁed that her conversation with Petitioner was in English without an
interpreter and she was ab}e to communlcate with the Pet1t1oner in Enghsh (Tr. p. 41) Ms.
Wnek testified that it was her nnpressmn that Petrtloner ‘was capable of understandmg and
commumeatlng in English. (Tr P 41). Ms Wnek testified that Petrtroner told her she was
walking through the front portron of the restaurant which would have been on tile floor that goes
past the hostess stand towards Starbucks when she hurt her knee (Tr. p. 42) Ms. Wnek testified |
this is near an exit door that leads to the outside just outside the Starbucks entrance. (Tr. p. 42)
Ms. Wnek testlﬁed that the exit door would be probably ten to fifteen feet away from where
Petitioner said she hurt her knee. Ms. Wnek testlﬁed there is not carpetmg or a mat in that area.
(Tr. p. 42). | | | |

Ms. Wnek testrﬁed that there are walk off mats used at the hotel at the exits partlcularly
dunng the winter months. (Tr. p- 43). Ms Wnek testlﬁed the walk off mats are ﬂat and they
take mmsture off guest s shoes as they come in and out the door (Tr. p. 43) Ms. Wnek testtﬁed
there is not any transmon or _]unctlon between the tile and carpet in the area where she
understood that Petltioner was walkmg (Tr p 43). Ms Wnek testified that the area where
Petitioner hurt her knee was open to the pubhc (Tr p 43)
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Ms. Wnek testified that the hotel has security cameras and as an HR representative she
has access to the surveillance video. (Tr. pp. 43-44). Ms. Wnek testified that she reviewed the
surveillance footage dated April 12, 2018, and saw Petitioner walking to the Starbucks, then she

stops and catches herself and then continues walkmg to the Starbucks entrance where the mat
 was. (Tr p. 44). Ms., Wnek testlﬁed that based on what she saw in the video the ﬂoor where
Petitioner stumbled was tile. (Tr. p. 44). Ms. Wnek testified that there were not any mats in the
area. {Tr. p.45). Ms. Wnek testified that the camera was pointed down in the Starbucks and
you can see the servers through the window. (Tr. p. 47). Ms. Wnek testified that Petitioner was
seen stumbling through the window. (Tr. p. 49). Ms. Wnek testified that Petitioner caught
herself in the video and then goes to the mat and stayed there. (Tr. p. 49). Ms. Wnek testified
that she thought she saw Petitioner leaning on the door and her co-worker took her to the back.
(Tr. p. 49). Ms. Wnek testified that the co-worker that helped Petitioner was named Marco. (Tr.
p. 50).

Ms. Wnek then testified that the photograph marked Exhibits SA showed the tile floor
next to Table 15 along with Table 15, as it looked on April 12, 2018. (Tr. p. 54). Ms. Wnek
testified that she took the photograph marked Exhibits SA-5F after Petitioner was hurt. (Tr. p.
55). Ms. Wnek testified that photograph 5B was an accurate representation of the floor on the
date of the accident. (Tr. pp. 55-56). Ms. Wnek testified that photograph 5C was the tile floor
by the hostess stand on the date of the accident and photograph 5D was a photograph of the floor
next to the hostess stand and towards the Starbucks. (Tr. p. 56). Ms. Wnek testified that
photographs SE and 5F show the ﬂoor by Table 15 on the date of the accident. (Tr. p. 57).

Ms Wnek testlﬁed that a supervisor’s accident report related to Petitioner’ s knee injury
was drafted by Megan Orr, Petztloner s supervisor. (Tr. p. 58). Ms. Wnek sald the only
maccuracy in the report is that it says Rosario (Petltloner) was seen by Megan talking to Marco
1mmedlately pl’IOI’ to her fall and fali is erroneous because Petltloner never said she fell but
_stumbled (Tr pp. 58- 59) N | o _ G

On cross- exammatlon Ms Wnek testlﬁed that she was rcsponslble for perfonnance
manag_ement_ or performance appraxsals empl_oyees. (Tr. p. 60_). Ms. Wnek testified that safety is
not paﬁ of the'perfofl_‘.nance management System, but Marriott tracks.safety.incidents. (Tr. p. 61).
Ms. Wnek testified ‘:tha't. all the Mérfidtt’ ptoeerties' are measured agaihst each other for safety

iﬁcidents, lost time and restricted duty statistics. (Tr. p. 61). Ms. Wnek testiﬁed that five OSHA
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recordable injuries have occurred at the Marriot Oak Brook in 2018. (Tr. p. 62). Ms. Wnek
denied that high levels in the organization would ask about injuries if the propefties she was
responsible for started to have more OSHA reportables than the other properties. (Tr. p. 63).

On cross-examination, Ms. Wnek testified that she would normally use a translator for
rneetmgs with Petltloner and her co-workers if it was needed (Tr. p. 64). Ms. Wnek testified
that she d_1d not speak Spanish, however, she felt that Petitioner was able to respond accurately 10
her qﬁes‘tions aboet the aceident (Tr p- 64) Ms. Wnek testified that Petitioner said she was
very busy rushmg to get lids. (Tr pp- 64- 65) '

On Cross- examlnatlon Ms. Wnek testified there is not a camera by the entrance door to
the hotel and the camera in Starbucks is the only camera in that area. (Tr. p. 65). Ms. Wnek
testified t_h.at the exit door for the hotel is on the edge of the video frame. (Tr. p. 66). Ms. Wnek
testified .that a runner mat was located at the doorway. (Tr.p. 67)

On cross examination, MS Wnek testified that she did not recall if she took the pictures
on the day of the accident or the next day, or a coupie days later. (Tr. p. 69). Ms. Wnek testified
that she did not take a picture of the pa‘fhway to the Starbucks because the Petltloner dxd not say
the accident oceurred in the Starbucks {Tr. p. 69) However Ms. Wnek testified that Petitioner
did say she was wal_kmg towards the Starbucks. (Tr. p. 69). Nevertheles_s, Ms. Wnek testified
that she did not take any pictures in the direction of the Starbucks. (Tr. p. 70). Ms. Wnek
testified that the niats at the entrance doors are used during the wet months of the year; but she
did not have knowledge of who maintains the mafs_ or if they are changed periodically. (Tr. p.
70). Ms. Wnek testiﬁed. that it is possible for the ma‘es to move. (Tr. p. 70).

On cross-examination, Ms. Wnek testified that she did not talk to the customers at Table
15 that saw Petitioner injure herself (Tr. p. 70). Ms. Wnek testified that she did not know why
Megan Orr Petxtloner ] Super\flsor that comp]eted the accident report was not present for the
arbitration hearmg, yet Ms. Orr still works for Marriott. (Tr p. 71)

Ms. Wnek testlﬁed that She d1d not know Why the question on page 2 of the accident
report asking, “Was the person carrying anythmg when injured?” was not marked. (Tr. p. 72).
However, Ms. Wnek testiﬁed that Petitioner told her that she was carrying liefs. (Tr. p. 72). Ms.
Wnek testified that she did not know why the accident report says that Petitioner was talking to
Marco prior to her fall as an “unsafe work pfactice”, although she previous testified that was

incorrect. (Tr. p. 72). Further, Ms. Wnek testified that Petitioner was not talking to Marco in the
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video shown. (Tr. p. 72). Ms. Wnek testified that the supervisor’s accident report was marked
yes for the question, “Did a time constraint, hurrying to complete a task, contribute to the
injury?” (Tr. p. 73).

On cross-examination, Ms. Wnek testified that the accident report was marked yes for the
q.uestion, “Did an unsafe Work practice contribute.to this injury?” (Tr. p.'73). Ms. Wnek
testified that it was important to capture the information for the supervisor’s accident report as
part of the investigation to see if there was anything out of the ordinary or something that could
be prevented. (Tr. p. 73). Ms. Wnek testified that if employees engaged in hurrying to complete
something, it could increase the risk of an injury occurring. (Tr. p. 74).

On re-direct, Ms. Wnek testified that she took the photographs for Respondent’s Exhibits
SA-SF after she spoke to the Petitioner to show there were no defects or an unsafe condition in
the area. (Tr. p. 75). Ms. Wnek testified that the mats were in the proper location. (Tr. p. 75).
Ms. Wnek testified that it was recommend that Petitioner practice safe walking, but she did not
know what training took place besides that listed for 2017, (Tr. p. 76).

Ms. Wnek testified that it did not appear in the video that Petitioner was working or
moving in a hurried manner. (Tr. p. 78). However, on cross-examination Ms. Wnek was asked
how she could tell that it didn’t appear that Petitioner was hurry although she was looking
through a window on the video for a brief amount of time and Ms. Wnek testified that it was her
interpretation that Petitioner was walking normally. (Tr. p. 78). Ms. Wnek testified that if there
were not proper lids in the VIP rooms, it was an issue that needed to be corrected quickly. (Tr. p.
78-79).

Medical Treatment

Petitioner testified that she was sent by Reépondent in a taxi to Advocate Occupational
Health on April 12, 2018. (Tr. pp. 13-14). Petitibner testified that she went to Advocate
_O__c_éupat_i_oﬁal Health and the treatefs._ kept her off work and referred her for orthopedic treatment.
(Tr. p. 14, PX1). ' |

Petitioner testified that she saw Dr. Tu for treatment on May 10, 2018, and Dr. Tu
ordered a MRI for her left knee and gave her work restrictions. (Tr.15, PX2 at 5/10/18). Dr.
Tu’s notes indicate that he gave Petitioner restrictions of sitting 50% of the time and no lifting,

kneeling or squ'att.ing activities. (PX2 at 5/10/ 18). Petitioner testified that she had the MRI
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perfdrmed for her left knee on May 15, 2018. (Tr.15, PX3). Petitioner tes.tiﬁed that Dr. Tu
diagnos.ed her with a medial menié_cus tear and had Petitioner begin physical therapy. (Tr. 15,
PX2 at 5/24/ 18) Petitioner testified that she did physical therapy for approximately a month at

Total Rehab. (Tr. 16, PX4). Petitioner téstiﬁed that Dr. Tu recommended surgery for her left
' knee as reflected by the ‘treatment recofds. | (Tr. 16, PX2 at 6/28/18). |

- ISSUES

Based upon the Stlpulatlon Sheet signed by the Partles as amended, the matters in dispute are as
foiiows

(© Did an acmdent occur that arose out of and in the course of Pet:tloner's employment
by Respondent" Lo

) Is Petitioner's current conditmn of 111-bemg causally related to the injury?

& Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and
necessary" ‘Has Respondent paid all approprlate charoes for all reasonable and
necessary medical services? '

(K)  Is Petitioner entitled to any Prospective Medical Care?

(L)  What temporary benefits are in dispute? TTD

(See Arbit_rator’s Ex_hibit 1, Request for Hearing form).

Regardmg Issue (C)

B_gardmo the issue “Did an Accident Occur that Arose Out of and in the Course of the
Employment by Respondent.” Petitioner testified that she injured her left knee durmg the
scope of her emplovment on Aprzl 12, 2018, the Arbltrator ﬁnds the foliowmg

A, Petltloncr s Tcstlmonv Was Consxstent and Credlble Provmg That Her
Emp_loyment E‘(poscd Her To A Risk Greater Than The General Public

For an injury to be compensable under the Workers' Compensation Act, it generally must
occur within the time and space bounddnes of the employment SESbI’O Inc. v. Industrial

Comm'n, 207 IlI 2d 193, 203, 278 111 Dec. 70 797 N.E.2d 665 (2003) The requiremcnt under the

W, orkers Compensatton Act that a compcnsable injury anse out of the employmeni concerns the
origm ot cause of the claimant's injury. Adcock vs. IWCC, 2015 111, App.2 20d 130884WC citing
Pairo v, Industr1a1 Comm'n, 167 111.2d 385, 393 212 1ll.Dec. 537, 657 N.E.2d 882 (1995)

Whef{hex an mjuzy arose out of and in the course of a claimant's employment is a question of fact

to be resolved by the Workers' Compensation Commission. Adcock vs. IWCC, 2015 Tl App.2™
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130884 WC citing Illinois Institute of Technology Research Institute v. Industrial Comm'n, 374
. App.3d 149, 164, 247 Hl.Dec. 22, 731 N.E.2d 795 (2000). |

For an injury to arise “out of” the employment, the injury must have occurred from some
risk connected with, or incidental to, the employment so as to create a causal connection between
the employment and .the accidental injury. Typically, an injury arises out of the employment if, at
the time of the incident or accident, the employee was performing acts he or she was instructed
to perform by his or her employer, acts he or she had a common law or statutory duty to perform,
or acts the employee might reasonably be expected to perform incident to his or her assigned
duties. O'Fallon School Dist. No. 90 v, Industrial Commission, 3/3 lll.App.3d 413729 N.E.2d
523246 Ill.Dec. 150 (2000). In O’Fallon; Petitioner was a school hall guard and injured her back

when she quickly twisted and turned to stop a student that ran past her. Id. Compensation was
denied under the theory of common risk, but the Commission reversed its decision following a
Circuit Court mandate. Id. The appellate court affirmed staﬁng that the Petitioner was subject to
enhanced risk inherent in her duties. Id.

In Nascote Indutries, compensation was awarded due to frequency of usage although

there was no “defect.” In that case, Petitioner was required to pick up bumpers, walk to her work
station and step up onto a rack. Petitioner stepped down from the rack and her foot turned
causing a fractured metatarsal. The court affirmed compensation because Petitioner’s foot injury
“arose out of the course of employment” based on increased risk to foot, despite employer's
claim that fhére was nothing uhusuai about the 'premis_es which contributed to the injury, where
claimant stepped dn to floor off part of a machine or plafform that she was required to load as
part of her job dut_iés, claimant's er!.('wa's fast-paced and involved quick 'tumar'ou.nd fate, and
claimant had to keep pace with parts press, Naséote Industries v. Industrial Comfnission 353

Il App.3d 1056, 820 N.E.2d 531, 289 Il{.Dec. 755 (2004).

The court addressed an unexplained fall down stairs that occurred While Petitioner was
moving hastily for her job in Will_iam G. Ceas and Companv_ V. Industrial Cor_nmiSsion, 261 111,

App. 3d 630, 199 Il Dec. 198, 633 N.E. 2 994 (1994). The Commission found the claim

compensable due fo Petitioner’s hurried departure to deposit péckages at her supervisor’s
request. Id. However, the appellate court then reversed, but after a rehearing was allowed, the

court reversed the earlier decision and opined that the employer’s last minute assignment caused

10
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her to descend the stairs in a hastily manner and therefore the risk of 1 1njury was increased as a

result of her work duties. 1. _
Addltlonaiiy, Petitioner has the bt_lrden of proving, by a pre.ponderance of the evidence,

all the 'elements of her claim. Q’Dette v Industria} Cornm_is_sion‘ 791l 2d 249, 253.

Preponderance is evidence which is. of greater weight or miore convincing that the evidence
offered in 0pposrtlon to 1t evrdence which as a Whole shows the fact to be proved as more

probable than not. Houck v. Natlonwrde Raﬂ Serv1ce No 11 Lw.C.C 0249 citing Kordrey

Jones V. J Ru’om Co 98 IL W.C. 7779 ‘Factors to consider i m determmmg whether a Petltroner
has sufﬁcrendy carried the burden is credrbrhty Id ' o

In the case before the Arbrtrator Petltioner was credlble and consrstent Petitioner
testtﬁed that on Aprzl 12 2018 she was hurrymg to Starbucks while carryrng cups and llds
when she trlpped on carpetmg and twrsted her left knee causmg 111Jury (Tr Pp- 8- 12) Petrtroner
testlﬁed that the carpet was a mat located at the entrances of the hotel (Tr p- 9. Pet1t10ner
testified that she was hurrymg because the lids did not fit the cups for customers in the VIP
room. (Tr pp- 8-12). Petltroner testified that she had recelved customer eompiamts about the
coffee lids. (Tr p 18). Petltroner testlﬁed that she when she trrpped her leg went to the side ,
she hear a popprng sound and she felt unmedlate pain and could not walk. (Tr. pp. 8- 9) Further,
- Petitioner testlﬁed that the carpetmg she was referrmg to was a mat used by the hotel entrances.
(Tr. p. 9). _ _

The Medlcal records show that Petitioner con31stently gave the same mechamsm for her
acmdent and injury WhICh was that she tripped on carpet. Petitroner ‘gave the same hlstory of
accident to Respondent s Occupatronai Cllmc and Dr Tu. (PXl and PX2) The Occupatlonal
Clinic records report the descrlptxon of the accrdent as waikmg rapidly on carpet at work when 1
felt a pop m my knee and the work status fonn states, “‘severe left knee pain after tnppmg at
Work no fall reported » (PX1). The hrstory in Dr Tu’s notes stated, “she was waikmg qurck}y in
between the floor and she trlpped over the Junctlon on the hard ﬂoor and the carpet ” (PXZ)
Respondent questroned Petrtloner about the d1fferences between the descrrptrons Although the
records have shght dlfferences, the medical records were not prepared in anticipation of htlgatlon
and the dlfferences are negligible. Both hlstomes state ‘that Pet;tloner was walking raprdiy or

qurckly when she trlpped

11
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In addition to Petitioner’s testimony and treatment records, Respondent’s Exhibit 4, the
supervisor’s accident report documented that Petitioner was walking in a hurried manner causing
an unsafe work practice as testified to by Respondent’s witness, Ms. Wnek. (Tr. pp. 72-73,
RX4). Further, the report listed suggested train:ihg for Petitioner .to prevent future accidents and
safety concerﬁs. (Tr. pp. 73-74, RX4). Re’spondént’s witness ackﬁowledged that employeeé that
work in a hurried manner are more likely to suffer injuries. (Tr., pp. 73-74).

Respondent’s witness, Ms. Wnek, was simply not credible when testifying about
Petitioner’s accident. First, Ms. Wnek did not witness the accident and only spoke to Petitioner
following the injury occurred. (Tr. pp. 13,39). Additionally, Ms. Wnek testified that she does
not speak Spanish and did not use a translator when she spoke to Petitioner about the accident
(Tr. pp. 63-64). However, Ms. Wnek testified that she would use trénslators for important
employee meeting with Petitioner and her co-workers. (Tr, pp. 63-64). Apparently Ms. Wnek
did not feel that an accident investigation was important enough to have a translator for her
discussion with Petitioner. ‘

Further, Ms. Wnek testified that she did not take pictures of the walkway leading to the
Starbucks submitted as Respondent’s Exhibit 5, because it was not her understanding of where
the Petitioner tripped. (Tr. pp. 69-70). This 1s not credible since the records from Respondent’s
Occupauonal Clinic list the description as walking rapidly on carpetmg and Ms Wnek was listed
as a company contact, Therefore, Ms. Wnek would have reviewed the Occupatlonai Clinic
records as part of the accident investigation. As the site HR Director, Ms. Wnek would have
been aware after Peiitioner’s t.reatment' at the O'ccupatiohal Clinic on April 12, 2.01.8 that
Petltloner tnpped on carpetmg However, Ms. Wnek choose to take photographs that were
limited in scope wzthout provuimg -a picture of the run off mat that she testlﬁed was at the
entrance of the hotel. . Further, Ms. Wnek could not accurately testify as to when she took the
photographs only that they m1ght have been taken the day of, or the day aﬁer or Wlthm a few
days. (Tr p.69). S ' B

_ Addmonaﬂy, Ms Wnek’s testlmony regardlng the surveﬂlance v1deo was not credible
The. view Was a downward angle inside Starbucks and Petltloner was only visible through a
small wmdow On Cross- exammatlon Ms. Wnek testlﬁed that based on 1 her mterpretatlon of the
v1deo the Petltloner did not appear to ‘oe hurrying although Petltloner was onIy v1sxble for a few

seconds. (Tr p 78) The surveliiance video pr0v1ded a 11m1ted and bnef view of the Petitioner.

12
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In fact the survezliance video does not even show the actual ﬂoor at the montent the Petltroner is
seen trrpplng (PX?) ‘Therefore, it is 1mp0531b1e from the surverllance video to see whether
there was a mat at the pomt where Petitioner tmpped (PX7).

Much of Respondent S argument against finding accident is that Petitioner gave
conﬂrctlng statements: about the nature of her trrppmg mcrdent Respondent is correct that all of
the various accounts do not perfeetty ahgn 111 terms of words chosen, descrrptrons used or exact
iocatlon where Petitloner trlpped The Arbrtrator finds, however that this is an exerczse in
splrttrng harrs and wrll not let the perfect defeat what amounts to good evrdence in Petitioner’s
favor, Petitioner ciarmed she was in a hurry and trlpped in such a manner that she hurt her knee
while gomg to fetch hds as part of her job. She reported the 1nc:1dent was treated near in trme to_
the injury and was in fact hurt. The vast majorrty of all ewdence in the record ahgns with
Petitioner’s account of what happened

Petrtroner s testrmony at trial and the histories of the accrdent that Petrtloner gave to
Respondent, the Occupatronal Clinic and Dr. Tu where consrstent and credible. Slmrlar to the

O’Fallon, Nascote Indutr;es and Wllham G. Ceas cases drscussed above Petitioner was engaged

in actrvrty on behalf of the ernpioyer that mcreased her rrsk of i mjury beyond the rrsk to the
general publzc In this case, Petrtzoner was workrng ina hurrred manner carrying cups and hds as
was testtﬁed to by Petltroner and Respondent s witness. Moreover Petrttoner was engaged in
activities directed by her supervrsor Further Petlttoner accrdent was documented in the
Respendent S superwsor report as the result of working in a hurried manner.

" Based upon all of the above the Arbltrator ﬁnds that the Petitioner suffered a left knee
injury that arose out of and in the course of her employment as a result of the Work related
accident of Apml 12, 2018. :

B. Respondent’s Exhlblts 6(a) and 6(b) Were Properly Adm:tted as Evndence By the
Arbltrator As an Adnnssmn by a Party Opponent

Under the Ilhnors rules of ev1dence, proper foundatron must 'be iard to show

authentrcatlon and 1dent1ﬁcat10n for audio recordmgs to be admitted as evidence. 'Ge'gjv &

Graham's Handbook of Ilinois. Evrdence 9‘" Edition. “Sound recordmgs of vorces are

authentlcated }f a proper foundatron 1s 1a1d mcludlng the Identrﬁcatlon of the speakers Id -

Further, a transcrrpt of the sound recordrng may be admrtted in ev1dence if a sufﬁcrent

13
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foundation is presented establishing the accuracy of the transcript and the identity of the
speakers. Id. Communications by telephone do not authenticate themselves; the person
speaking must be identified. Id.

ReIevant and material audro recordings are adm1531ble ‘ifa proper foundat:on has been
laid to assurc the authentlclty and reliability of the recordmg » People v. Vlramontes, 410
Ill.Dec. 221, 69 N.E.3d 446 (2017) citing, People v. Aliwoli, 238 Ill App.3d 602, 623, 179
Ill.Dec. 515, 606 N.E.2d 347 (1992). A sufficient foundation is laid when “a participant to the

conversation or a person who heard the conversation while it was taking place identifies the
voices of the people in the conversation and testifies that the tape accurately portrays the
conversation.” Id. citing In re C.H., 398 lll. App.3d 603, 607, 339 Ili. Dec. 139, 925 N.E.2d 1260
(2010).

In a recent case before the commission concemning proper foundation, Dinaz Ravii v.
United Airlines. Inc., No. 05 W.C. 54051, No. 12 LW.C.C. 0094, (2012) the Illinois Workers

Compensation Commission ruled that the Arbitrator was in etror to admit still photographs from

surveillance video introduced as exhibits by Respondent. In Ravii v. United Airlines,

Respondent argued that the foundation was laid when Petitioner identified herself in the video;
however, the commission disagreed citing People v. Flores 406 Il App.3d 566, 941 N.E.2d 375
(2010).

The court in Flores found that the trial court improperly admitted a video. The court
opined that witness testimony was sufficient foundation for admissiorl of the videotape for use as
demonstrative eridenoe, and the court cited M. Graham, Geary & Graham's Handbook of Illinois
Evidence as follows: A Sufﬁcieﬁ_t foundation is laid for a still photograph, a motion picture, or
a videorape b.y testimonj/ of. any person'with personal knowledge of the photographed object at a
time relevant to the issues that the photogr aph is a fair and accurate representatlon of the object

at that time [. }” [cztatlon om1tted] Flores 406111, App 3d at 572 941 N.E.2d at 381 However

the Flores court noted that foundatlon for admatting the tape to be used as substamzve evrdence
however requ1red “somethmg more rlgorous than the w1tnesses tes‘nmony that the v1deo in

evrdence truly and accurately deplcted that whlch it purported to depiet " 406 Ill App 3d at 576,

941 N. E 2d at 384 The court Indlcated that “v1suaE recordmgs when treated substantwely, are
real ev1dence requmng a proper foundatlon, moludmg evrdence that ’Ehe proposed exhlblt is

substantially unaltered ” FIores 406 Hl App 3d at 572 941 N. E 2d at 381 The w1tness testified

14
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that the copy he produced was alte_red because he omitted portions from the original tape. The
court held that the trial court abused its discretion when it considered the tape as substantive
evidence, and stated that “an adequate foundation must show that the original has been preserved
without change, addition, or deietion and that, if a copy is introduced into evidence, there must

be a cogent explanation of any copying such that the court is satisfied that during the copying

process there were no changes, additions, or deletions.” Flores, 406 1ll.App.3d at 577, 941
N.E.2d at 385. | | | -

[n the present matter before the arbitrator, Respondent’s Exhibits 6(a) and 6(b) are a
recorded audio statemeht with a tran_sEafor and a transcript.. At the hearing on October 23, 2018,
Respondent did not lay a proper foundation to admit the recorded statement, translation and
transcript. Respoodent did.not provide a Witness to testify to the authenﬁcity and accoracy of the
record.ed statement. ‘The speakers on the recorded sta’zeﬁaenﬁ were not identified. Respondent did
not prov1de a witness to testify about the accuracy of the Spamsh to Enghsh translation of the
recorded statement or the transcrlpt Further because Respondent did not have a Wltness
Petltloner was not afforded the opportunity to Cross- examme the individuals respon51b1e for
eieatlng the recorded statement. Additionally, Pet1t10ne1 could not cross-examine the translator
with respect to hlS or her quallﬁcatlons

Respondent argued at Arbitration that Petitioner testified that she gave a statement and
therefore it was an admission by a party opponent. (Tr. p. 24) Further, Respondent’s counsel
argued at Arbitration that Petitioner admitted it was her on the recorded statement. (Tr. p. 84)
The Arbitrator finds this admission by a party opponent sufﬁcient to admit the recorded
statement 1nt0 ewdence despite the lack of foundation testimony that was outlined in the
chscussmn above. |

Based upon ali of the above, the Arbitrator finds that Respondent s Exhibits 6(a} and

6(b) were p_roperly admltted at Arbitration and should not be stricken from the record.

Regardmg Issue (F)

Is Petmoner ) current condltlon of 1ﬂ-belng causailv related to the i mlurv. the Arbltrator
finds the followmg ' . .

For an inj ury to be compensable under the Workers' Compensation Act, it generally must

oceur within the time and space boundaries of the employment. Sisbro, Inc. v. Industrial
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Comm'n, 207 I11.2d 193, 203, 278 1ll.Dec. 70, 797 N.E.2d 665 (2003). The “arising out of”

component for obtaining compensation under the Workers' Compensation Act is primarily
concerned with causal connection, to satisfy that requirement it must be shown that the injury
had its origin in some risk connc(,tc,d with, or incidental to, the employment so as to create a
causal connection between thc employment and the acudcntai mjury.(1d.) Clarmant need only
prove some act or phase of his employment was a causative factor in the ensuing injury to
recover benefits under the Act. He need not prove it was the sole causative factor, nor even that it
was the principal causative factor of his injury. Republic Steel Corp. v. Industrial Comm’n, ef

al., 26 111.2d at 45, 185 N.E.2d at 884 (1962).

Petitioner testified that on April 12, 2018, she was hurrying to the Starbucks in
Respondent’s hotel to get cups and lids for guests when she tripped on mat causing injury to her
left knee. (Tr. p. 8). Petitioner testified that when she tripped, her left leg went to the side and
she heard a pop followed by immediate pain. (Tr. pp. 8-9).

Petitioner testified that Respondent sent her by taxi to Advocate Occupational Health on
the same day of the accident. (Tr. pp. 13-14). The records indicate that Petitioner was walking
rapidly on carpet when she tripped injuring her left knee. (PX1). Petitioner testified that she
went to Advocate Occupational Health and the treaters kept her off work and referred her for
orthopedic treatment. (Tr. p. 14, PX1).

Petitioner testified that she saw Dr. Tu for treatment on May 10, 2018, and Dr. Tu
ordered a MRI for her left knee and gave her work restrictions. (Tr.15, PX2 at 5/10/18). Dr.
Tu’s notes indicate .tha't. he géve Petitioner restrictions of sitting 50% of the time and no lifting,
kneeling or squatti.ng activities. (PX2 at 5/10/18). Petitibner testified that she had the MRI
performed for her left knee on May 15, 2018. (Tr.15, PX3). Petitioner testified that Dr. Tu
diag_nosed her with a medial meniscus tear and had Petitir)ner begin physical thérapy. (Tr. 15,
PX?.) 'Petitio'rle_r festiﬁed that she did ph'ysi.cai therapy for approximately a month at Total
“Rehab. (Tr 16, PX4) Petitioner testiﬁed that Dr. Tu recdmmended surgery for her Ieft knee as
reﬂected by the treatment records (Tr. 16 PX2 at 6/28/18). Petmoner testrﬁed that she has not
been able to have the surgery because the insurance did not authorize it. (Tr. pp. 16- 17)

Respondent offered_no rebuttai testimony or medical evidence regardlng Petitioner’s need

for left knee surgery as recommended by Dr. Tu.
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Based upon the totahty of the evidence, moludmg medlcal opinions, and the w1tness
testimony, the Ar‘oltrator concludes that Petltloner has estabhshed a causal connectlon between |
the work acczdent of Aprll 12,201 8 and Petmoner s current condition of ill-being of 1eft knee

injury. ThlS is supported by the medical records and opinions of Petitioner’s testlmony at trial,

the treaters at Advocate Occupational Health and Dr. Tu.

Regardmg Issue J:

Were the Med;cal Serv:ces Reasonable and Necessarv, The arb:trator holds the followmg

For all the reasons stated above, Petitioner suffered a work related injuries on Ai)ril 12,
2018. As a result of those 1 1njurzes Petitioner has the followmg unpaid med:cai bills:

Provider Dates of Service ' Balance
Advocate Occupational Health 4/12/2018 : $387.00

Dr. Kevin Tu 5/10/2018 to 9/20/2018 $1,820.00
Premier Imaging & Open MRI 5/15/2018 $1,626.03

Total Rehab : . 5/29/2018 to 6/29/2018 $6,141.00
- Total outstandmg $9, 974 03

Petitioner had admitted medical bills from Advocated Occupational He_aith (PX1) that
had a balance of $387.00, Dr. Kevin Tu (PX2) with a balance of $1,820.00, Premier Imaging and
Open MRI (PX3) with a balance of$1,626.0_3, and Total Rehab (PX4) with a balance of
$6,141.00. Pet_itioner"s treatment at Advocate Occupational Health was at the direction of and
authorized by Respo_nden_t. (PX1) Respondent’s olin_ic directed petitioner to foHOW up'with an
orthopedfc doctor, which is Dr. Tu. (PX1) The MRI for Ider left .knee was ordered, by Dr. Tu,
Petitioner’ s treatmg physman {PX?.) The physwal therapy at total rehab was recommended by
Dr. Tu. (PX4)

In sections C and F above, the Arbltrator found that Petitioner did suffer a work related
injury and her coudltlon of 111 bemg is causally connected to that injury. Respondent did not
produce any medical opzmons or testnnony Therefore based upon the totahty of the evidence,
including medical opmions and Wltness testimony, the Arbltrator concludes that all of

Petatloner s medxcal charges are reasonabie and necessary to attempt to cure her 1eﬂ knee i 1n3ury
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and the Arbitrator awards the $9,974.03 of the medical bills listed above, as provided in Sections
8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Regarding Issue K:

Is Petitioner entitled to anv Prospective Medical Care?

Section 8(a) of the Act entitles a claimant to compensation for all necessary medical,
surgical, and hospital services “thercafter incurred™ that are reasonably required to cure or relieve
the effects of injury. Specific procedures or treatments that have been prescribed by a medical
service provider are “incurred” within the meaning of the statute, even if they have not yet been
paid for. Plantation Manufacturing Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 294 1lL.App.3d 705, 710, 229
HL.Dec. 77, 691 N.E.2d 13 (1997).

The ability for the Commission to award and order prospective was also decided in

Homebrite Ace Hardware v. Industrial Commission 351 1L App.3d 333, 814 N.E.2d 126 (2004),
and the court relied on Bennett Auto Rebuilders v, Industrial Comm'n, 306 Hl.App.3d 650, 655~
50, 239 Hl.Dec. 767, 714 N.E.2d 1064 (1999), the court held that the Commission's order

directing the employer to provide written authorization for a prescribed surgery was proper.

In the current case before the Arbitrator, Petitioner’s treating surgeons, Dr. Tu has opined
that Petitioner requires surgery as a result of the work injury of April 12, 2018. (PX10).
Respondent has not provided any rebuttal medical evidence or testimony.

The arbitrator found in sections C and F that an accident occurred on April 12, 2018, that
arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's empfojzment by Respondent and Petitioner’s left
knee injury and current ill-condition is causally related. Therefore, the Arbitrator concludes that
Respéndent shall authorize Petitioner’s left knee surgery and related post-surgical medical

treatment as provided in Sections 8(a) Act. -

‘Regarding Issue L:

What temporary benefits are in dispute? The Arbitrator finds the following:

A claimant is entitled to TTD when a “disaﬁling condition is temporary and has not

reached. a péﬁnaneht c'on'dition.” Manis v Tndustrial Comm'n, 230 .IlI.App.Bd 657, 660, 172
IIl.Dec. 95, 595 N.E.2d 158, 160-61 (1™ Dist. 1992) The time during which a claimant is
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temporanly totai]y dlsabled isa questron of fact for the Commlssron and to be entitled to TTD,
claimant must prove not only that he did no work but that he was unable to work M _
Gramte City V. Industrlal Comm'n, 279 M. App 3d 1087 1090 217 Ill Dec 158, 666 N. E 2d 827,
828-29 (5“* Drst 1996). The d1sposrtrve test is whether the condrtlon has stabrlrzed because the

Commlssron reviews the evrdence to ascertarn whether clatmant has reached maxrmum medical

1mprovement i.c., the condltion has stablhzed Bouse V. Industrral Comm n, 299 Jus App 3d 180
183, 233 Il1.Dec. 453 701 N.E.2d 96, 98 (1998). . _

Petrtroner testified that she was sent by Respondent to Advoeate Occupatlonal Health on
April 12, 2_01 8. (T_r. pp. 13-14). Petitioner testrﬁed that she went_ to Advo_cate Oecupatlonai
Health, the treaters ordered her off worl_( and r_eferred_her for orthopedic 'treatment. (Tr. p. 14,
PXD. _— B .

Petitioner testified that she saw Dr Tu for treatment on May 10, 2018 and Dr. Tu
ordered a MRI for her Eeft knee and gave her Work restrlctxorls (Tr 15, PXZ at 5/10/1 8) Dr.
Tu’s notes 1ndicate that he gave Petltloner restnc‘nons of srttmg 50% of the time and no lifting,
kneehng or squattmg act1v1t1es (PXZ at 5/ 10/18). Pet1ttoner testrﬁed that she had the MRI
performed for her left knee on May 15 2018, (Tr. 15 PX3). ' _

P_etrtroner testrﬁed that Dr. Tu dragnosed her with a medial meniscus tear and had
Petitioner ’oegin physical therapy. (Tr. 15, PX2). Petitioner testiﬁed that she did ohysical
therapy for approﬁri'lnate]y a rnonth at Total Rehab. (Tr. 16, PX4). _?etitioner testified that Dr. Tu
recommended surgery for her left knee as reflected by the treatment .recordsr (Tr. 16, PX2.at
6/28/18). o | | | |

Petltroner s medrcal records from Advocate Oceupatronal Health and Dr Tu all
demonstrate that Petrtroner was kept off work or on restrlcted duty begmmng April 12, 20} 8.
(PXl PXZ) Petrtroner testrﬁed that she faxed her restrictions to Respondent but she was not
offered hght duty work and she has not recerved any Workers Compensatron d1sab1hty pay
(Tr. pp. 15-17). - |

'- The Arbrtrator holds, for the reasons stated in the “Accrdent” “Causatlon and

“Prospectlve Care sectlons and based upon ali testrmony and medrcal evidence, Petitioner is
awarded temporary totai drsabrhty (TTD) beneﬁts from Apnl 13, 2018 up to the date of trial or
27 and 5/7 Weeks times Petitioner’s TTD rate of $398 62 per week (AWW of $597.94 as
stlpulated Arb EXl) for a total of $11,047.35 m TTD beneﬁts due ' '
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CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Petitioner’s testimony was credible and convincing. Petitioner’s
medical records and .testimony' corroborate that she injured her left knee workirig for Respondent
on April 12, 2018. The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner was injured in the course of her
employment with Respondent on Aprit 12, 2018.

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner proved that her left knee injuries were caused by the
work accident of April 12, 2018. The Arbitrator holds that Respondent shall authorize
Petitioner’s recommended left knee surgery, post-surgery physicél therapy and other related
post-surgical medical treatment as provided in Section 8(a) Act.

The Arbitrator concludes that all of Petitioner’s medical charges are réasonable and
necessary to attempt to cure her left knee injuries and the ArBitratof aﬁvards the $9,974.03 of
medical bills listed in Section J a‘bove, as provided in Sections 8'(5) and 8.2 of the Act.

The Arb.itr.ator finds that Petitioner is owed temporary total di'sability (TTD) benefits due
and owing of $11,047.35 for the period of disability from April 13, 2018, up to the date of trial
on October 23, 2018.
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